THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM APPELLATE PANEL OF THE S.C. WORKER'S COMPENSATION
COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

Melody L. James, Commissioner

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

WCC File No. 1303465

Appellate Case No. 2016-000790

RECEIVED

AUG 04 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Ann Stevenson

Claimant/Appellant

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Employer

AND

New Hampshire Insurance Co., Carrier,

Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ann Stevenson
2261 Greenleaf Drive
Conway, S.C. 29526
843-347-5151
Appellant / Claimant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM APPELLATE PANEL OF THE S.C. WORKER'S COMPENSATION
COMMISSION

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact #18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the neck was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier and supported by the greater weight of accurate medical evidence and that the Defendants should have been barred by estoppel from asserting a denial at hearing.
2. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact#18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the hip was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier and supported by the greater weight of medical evidence and that the Defendants should have been barred by estoppel from asserting a denial at hearing.
3. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact#18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the ankle/foot and the back were denied despite being supported by the greater weight of medical evidence?
4. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact#18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the right arm was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier and that the Defendants should have been barred by estoppel from asserting a denial at hearing.
5. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact #18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the right hand was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier and supported by the greater weight of medical evidence and that the Defendants should have been barred by estoppel from asserting a denial at hearing.
6. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact #16 and Conclusion of Law #5? The error being that the Claimant was not at maximum medical improvement and impairment ratings on all approved parts were never produced or determined.

7. Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact #19 and Conclusion of Law # 7? The error being that the Claimant was not at maximum medical improvement by the greater weight of accurate medical evidence.
8. Did the Commissioners err in basing their Order conclusions and decisions of MMI, TTD, etc. on medical statements, radiological readings, evidence, and material from medical practitioners of diagnosis, treatment, conclusions, and observations that were based upon radiological readings (X-rays and MRIs)? The error of which other radiologists and specialist physicians found to have reading errors that sufficiently broadened the diagnoses affecting more injury treatment and delays in treatment?
9. **Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in not addressing or accepting the evidence exhibits of Defendants written statements that stated which specific body parts were accepted under the claim, and did they also err in not providing the guidance due under SC Code of Laws Title 26, UETA? The error of which was not applying UETA Code of Laws.**
10. Did the Commissioners err in basing their conclusions and decisions upon disregarding patient testimony under oath as being non-credible and weighted accordingly upon these same findings and that of statements made by the Defense? Did they also err in their findings, if there was no direct evidence provided proving false statements made by the Claimant?
11. Did the Commissioners err in basing their decisions, conclusions and orders on assuming the credibility of the Defendants' attorney's statements and evidence provided? And if so how could incorrect, misleading and false statements become the basis of this case?
12. Did the Commissioners err in their consideration of the complete FCE report - the recommendations, physical observations, restrictions, and objective body part quantification of FCE report upon which Dr. Merritt based his objective decisions of MMI and decisions on form 14B? And was this error created by removal of page 7 (objective testing results) of the 11 page report in the FCE report provided as evidence under Defendants' APA

13. Were there Workers Compensation Regulations violated in this case and was no action taken on these violations? Were there other laws violated by the Defendants and their agents?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the morning of Saturday, February 16, 2013, Ann Stevenson's injuries were sustained in a work-related accident while working as a NC and SC territorial rotating relief pharmacist at the Walmart Pharmacy 4664, 151 Myrtle Ridge Drive, Conway, SC 29526. (R. p. 74, line 8 - p. 75 line 12) The accident occurred when she walked down to the counsel window to talk to a mom about a child's antibiotic and realized it was just powder, not mixed. Turning to ask a tech to mix it, her foot stepped through into a coiled computer data cord wrapped several times around her ankle that was notched into the data socket in the wall. When she tried to take a step with the right foot the data cord pulled tight jerking her foot out from under her, up and over turning her sideways with her left side under her, still in the air coming down when the cord broke out of the socket, as she was thrown forward ramming her right hand/wrist and fingers into the division of the bottom of the large blue hazardous waste bin, and ramming her right arm up past the bicep through one of the small holes in the bin top where it broke off as she rolled off of it with her right hand still trapped in the division coming down on her as she hit the floor with her left hand still holding the prescription bag and the outside of her left leg hitting the ground. The two places of main injury contact were the right hand/wrist and fingers which took her weight on initial impact and the right ankle which was not released until the data cord broke, both parts of which defendants' have denied since litigation began, but there are several emails stating certain body parts are covered on the claim. (R. pp. 376-380). These **Accident Pictures** which are parts of the actual **accident videos** (received from the Defendants' attorney under the part of the subpoena that was complied with after Defendants' medical treatments were stopped) are supplied for corroboration of the accident description. Only the similar pictures from the accident were allowed to be presented (R. pp. 382-385)

We are still waiting for material from subpoenas that were never complied with and have one outstanding..... Two subpoenas were issued by Carter Martling (Appellant's lawyer) on October 18, 2013. One subpoena required as the list of documents: The complete adjuster's file including and any and all accident reports, in store video of the incident in question, and all investigative materials. The second subpoena required as the list of documents: The complete employment file including any and all accident reports, in store video of the incident in question, and investigative materials. On November 7, 2013, Defendants' attorney requested, "that this commission issue an Order quashing the subpoena requesting production for the entire insurance claim file in this matter." Nowhere did they request witness accident reports be withheld or even listed. On November 22, 2013, Commissioner Wilkerson signed The Quash Order, granting the Motion to Quash Subpoena for Carrier File. On December 3, 2014, Carter Martling (Claimant's lawyer) issued another subpoena requiring list of documents: The updated since 12/19/2013 employment file including

any and all accident reports, in store video of the incident in question, and investigative materials. Most of the employment file contained about 138 pages of blank time sheets that were never filled in, numerous physician accommodation requests along with restrictions, and blank forms with a few interoffice emails.

None of the witness reports, nor both of the verbal accident injury conversation recordings of the claimant were ever produced under any of the three subpoenas and they were not requested to be Quashed either, so Defendants never complied with those subpoenas.

Dr Merritt's Deposition was taken on December 18, 2013 with an exhibit added to page 49 of five pictures of the defendant falling, but was not produced in Defendants' APA (so the Court allowed similar pictures of the accident to be presented (R. pp. 383-385)

Ann Stevenson's Deposition was taken on November 26, 2013. (R. pp. 183-202)

A hearing on the Defendant's Form 21 was held before Commissioner Wilkerson on December 19, 2013. After hearing the testimony from which he decided the only credible testimony was that of the defendants' lawyer, Commissioner Wilkerson issued an Order dated March 5, 2014. In that Order he made Statements of Fact suggested by the Defendants' lawyer that the Claimant's statements and testimony was exaggerated, not believable, unreliable, and not credible. Some of the material used for this came from statements and a letter a doctor, Dr Baens who illegally accessed this patient's medical file of Dr Merritt (not-professionally related in practice) in June 2013 (after March 27, 2013 she had been removed), denying Dr Merritt's written prescription for physical therapy with the paperwork supplied by a claims adjuster via fax/phone across state lines. (A criminal complaint is currently being investigated by the state and there are copies of the HIPPA complaints under investigation.) This denial of physical therapy by the wrong doctor appears to have saved the Defendants several weeks of physical therapy.

From that Order the Claimant/Appellant appealed. The Full Commission heard that appeal and vacated the previous order on the basis that all body parts, both admitted and denied, should have been adjudicated at one time.

A second hearing was then held before Commissioner Michael Campbell on January 8, 2015, and an Order was issued on October 13, 2015, of 6% permanent partial disability to the right knee and 4% permanent partial disability to the right shoulder, with a total indemnity award of \$17,626.16 of TTD for benefits of a max of \$743.72/ week. The Order stated, 1) "that the Claimant is not entitled to any on-going or future medical treatment, and " that Claimant's application for benefits for injuries to the neck, low back, right hand, and right foot/ankle is denied and her claims for benefits associated with these body parts is dismissed with prejudice." There was also a disruption in testimony of Claimant about the claimant/adjuster emails of coverage during the hearing.

Commissioner Campbell found that the defendants' were entitled to stop payment of temporary total disability compensation as of October 10, 2013, the date on which Dr Merritt decided the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement on the right shoulder and right knee body parts of her injury, stating would probably need pain therapy and was restricted by the FCE results.. Commissioner Campbell appeared to have only considered the MMI portion of form 14B, by awarding permanent disability benefits to the defendants' lawyer's admitted body parts (right knee and right shoulder) and awarding a credit for overpayment of temporary compensation after October 10,2013 avoiding any decision on work restrictions and denying the pain therapy most likely needed as stated by the physician determining the Maximum Medical Improvement on that form. Commissioner Campbell found that the claimant was not entitled to ongoing or future medical treatment, while denying compensation for any other claimant injuries of cervical neck, low back, right hand/wrist, right arm, and right foot/ankle which the defense argued they had denied these parts. The Claimant appealed, filing Form 30, appealing this denial and the findings that the she had reached maximum medical improvement. The Appellate Panel Review was held on January 11,2016

Claimant states the Commissioners erred in placing her at maximum medical improvement as of October 10,2013, awarding the credit for TTD payment past that date, and there is compensable damage sustained to the right hand/wrist and other body parts injured in the work accident on February 16,2013 which the adjusters chose not to cover, but were accepted and admitted to in emails to her and under the body parts sent to physical therapy for authorized treatment as noted in Physical Therapy notes.

FACTS OF THE CASE

The Appellant worked as pharmacist for Walmart, where her accident occurred and was timely reported on February 22, 2013. As to accident, see statement of the case, video, and pictures

The Appellant was initially seen at Doctor's Care on February 22, 2013, after her work injury where she was diagnosed with a right arm and hand strain. (R. pp. 265 -272) After that, she was authorized to treat at Progressive Physical Therapy from March 8, 2013 through June 12, 2013. (R. pp. 298-320) In Dr Baens Physical Therapy order (02282013) she lists ICD 9 Diagnosis codes, "cervical, R should, R arm, R wrist, R hand and R lower extremity." She also states "patient would like to try pain relief modalities that a chiropractor would offer to alleviate multiple pain joint/ muscle discomfort mainly right side" with a notation "Fridays only" She also writes the ICD 9 Diagnosis on each specific prescription written thereby correlating their medical effectiveness and how they were connected for medical use. Additional, the Appellant was provided diagnostic imaging tests including x-rays of her right elbow and hand at Doctor's Care. . After the first two to three weeks, the main form of communication between claimant and adjuster was via emails, with directions to take action and to do diagnostics notified by email.

The Appellant was authorized to treat with Dr. James Merritt at Strand Orthopaedic Consultants on several occasions between March 27, 2013 and October 8, 2013. (R. p. 258) She was diagnosed with a "probable low back strain with some sciatic discomfort down the right leg, and right shoulder rotator cuff injury, cervical strain, and wrist and hand strain." She has continued to complain of symptoms related to all these body parts consistently ever since, including the hand and neck. In his deposition, Dr. Merritt states she was "having problems with her hand .. I referred her to our hand specialist for that." (R. p. 208, Merritt Deposition p. 19 line 1-3) When asked in the same deposition whether he had any reason to believe she did or didn't injure her hand, he replies, "I don't have any reason to believe that she didn't. I have no history of another injury or anything like that." (R. p. 215, Merritt Deposition p 47, line 19-20)

The Appellant was sent to Dr. Alan Tamadon, a physiatrist in Wilmington, North Carolina, for an IME on August 1, 2013.. He was charged with evaluating her for "right foot, hand, shoulder, knee, hip and neck pain associated with right hand weakness." (R. p. 260-264) When asked whether her symptoms "in total" were related to her accident, he simply replies, "No." He further opines that "all objective findings with the exception of the myofascial pain are pre-existing.." He then further notes he has no "access to any prior medical/alternative medicine records."

In regards to whether or not her right hand is at MMI, Dr. Tamadon (a physiatrist) states, "Yes, if right CTS is not an approved diagnosis." He then states in regards to MMI, " If right CTS is accepted as part of this injury, claimant is not at MMI.: (R. p. 263, section 8)

On October 10, 2013 Dr. Merritt issued a Form 14B placing the Appellant at MMI for her right shoulder and knee and assigned impairment ratings of 2% and 3% respectively and said to see FCE for full restrictions.(more than page 7 was missing in Def APA of FCE report) (R. pp. 273-288). He was not sent the Defendants' tampered with FCE report, but was sent the non-adulterated one and that is where he got his restrictions from, which was verified by asking the office whether they had the missing pages information.

The procedural aspects that followed are outlined above in the Statement of the Case.

We are also waiting on evidence to be supplied by Form 27 Subpoena issued by Amy Bracy on November 22, 2016, requesting materials that had never been provided from the other subpoenas. This Subpoena requests copies of 1) The updated employment file since 12/12/14, any and all accident materials, including those accident reports filled out by co-workers on the day of the accident, and the two verbal audio recordings made of the claimant's statement for the accident and injuries by her recorded by the adjusters over the phone. The subpoena specifically identifies what the other included, but were not provided. We have reason to believe that this material will confirm the Appellant's claims of injuries and specifically the foot and other body parts of contention. The date to be provided for was December 9, 2016, giving the Defendants' at least 15 days to comply. Some of this subpoenaed information under discovery may belong under the Statement of Facts or in one of the arguments..

The above Subpoena was noted to be void due to the case continuing at the Court of Appeals out of the Commission's jurisdiction and the material is being held pending outcome per Commission Order.

QUESTION

1)Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact #18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the neck was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier (R. p. 377) and supported by the greater weight of accurate medical evidence

ARGUMENT

_____In Dr Baens Physical Therapy order (02282013)she lists ICD 9 Diagnosis codes, “cervical, R should, R arm, R wrist, R hand and R lower extremity(which must have been her diagnosis, even if she did not write it up on her visit evaluation sheet). She also states “ patient would like to try pain relief modalities that a chiropractor would offer to alleviate multiple pain joint/ muscle discomfort mainly right side” with a notation “ Fridays only” She also writes the ICD 9 Diagnosis on each specific prescription written thereby correlating their medical effectiveness and how they were connected for medical use.

The Claimant began treatment with Dr. Merritt on March 27, 2013,(released from Doctor's Care) and was diagnosed with a “ low back strain , right should rotator cuff injury, cervical strain, and wrist and hand strain.” (R. p. 258) He states, she is also complaining of tightness in the neck and does not seem to want to move this.”

Medical statements, radiological readings, evidence, and material from medical practitioners of diagnosis, treatment, conclusions, and observations that were based upon *faulty radiological readings* (X-rays and MRIs) which other radiologists and specialist physicians found to have reading errors that sufficiently broadened the diagnoses linking more symptoms associated with objective records, affecting more injury treatment and delays in treatment of the approved body parts.

QUESTION

2)Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact#18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the hip was denied despite being previously accepted by the carrier (R. p. 380) and supported by the greater weight of medical evidence and that the Defendants should have been barred by estoppel from asserting a denial at hearing.

ARGUMENT

The right hip was authorized for treatment under Dr. Merritt and physical therapy, even though being an accepted part was denied at litigation (R. p. 380),. Also see UETA

QUESTION

3)Did the Single Commissioner and Commissioners err in Finding of Fact#18 and Conclusion of Law#3? The error being that the Claimant's allegation of an injury by accident to the ankle/foot and the back were denied despite being supported by the greater weight of medical evidence?

ARGUMENT

Adjuster- Claimant email (053113 at 11:31am) Hanna Wiley's written statement is, “ We are in the process to set you up with specialist to address all your issues and we will not be able to treat you for your **foot/ ankle** until after this appointment. **We are not refusing treatment**, but must go through the proper channels.

On the associate incident report (R. p. 202,Defendants' exhibit 1 from Stevenson Deposition), filed the date of the accident, February 16, 2013, under a description for “Nature of Injury”, Ms. Stevenson states”Cord pulled right foot out and twisted down when hand was caught in plastic lid.”

In Dr Baens Physical Therapy order (02282013)she lists ICD 9 Diagnosis codes, “cervical, R should, R arm, R wrist, R hand and R lower extremity(which must have been her diagnosis, even if she did not write it up on her visit evaluation sheet). She also states “ patient would like to try pain relief modalities that a chiropractor would offer to alleviate multiple pain joint/ muscle discomfort mainly right side” with a notation “Fridays only” She also writes the ICD 9 Diagnosis on each specific prescription written thereby correlating their medical effectiveness and how they were connected for medical use.

In the above report and every description of the accident, Ms. Stevenson has consistently stated that the foot/ankle was involved (R. p. 74, line 12-p75, line 9) (R. p. 202 and pp.191-192, Stevenson Deposition p33 line 3 – p37 line3). The Defendants' accident video surveillance and pictures (R. p. 385) shows a loose coiled computer cord near the bottom of the Claimant's leg. The Claimant began treatment with Dr. Merritt on March 27, 2013 , where he stated , “also having problems with cramping in the calf on the right side as

well”and was diagnosed with a “ low back strain , right should rotator cuff injury, cervical strain, and wrist and hand strain.” (R. p.258). He referred her to Dr Pappas (a foot and ankle ortho specialist) having to wait almost two months on the waiting list to be seen as a new patient.

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