THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM S.C. WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2016-000790

Ann Stevenson, Claimant,

Appellant,

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Employer, and
New Hampshire Insurance Co., Carrier,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

FILED
AUG 10 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Johnnie W. Baxley, III, Esquire
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley, PA
421 Wando Park Boulevard, Suite 100
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 284-1082
jwbaxley@wjlaw.net
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF THE ALLEGED RIGHT HAND INJURY.

The substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's finding that Claimant does not have a legitimate or compensable right hand injury, that Claimant failed to prove medical causation between her alleged right hand injury and accident at work, and that Claimant failed to

prove her case with sufficient medical evidence or credible testimony. Further, Respondents request that the Court of Appeals affirm the Order of the Commission for any ground appearing on the record as provided in SCACR 220(c).

A. The Claimant's testimony as to her alleged right hand injury was not credible.

It is important to note that the Hearing Commissioner, who had an opportunity to observe the Claimant and listen to her live testimony, made eight separate Findings of Fact that the Claimant's testimony was exaggerated, not believable, unreliable, and not credible. (R. pp. 21-24 (Findings of Fact #5, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, and 21)). Those Findings were not appealed and are the law of the case. (R. p. 175). All findings of fact and conclusions of law by a hearing Commissioner become the law of the case except those specifically within the scope of an exception in an appeal filed to the Appellate Panel of the Commission. Hoke v. Cherokee County, 216 S.C. 376, 58 S.E.2d 330 (1950). An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance. See Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp., 338 S.C. 171, 525 S.E.2d 869 (2000). Since they were not appealed, the credibility findings were adopted by the Appellate Panel of the Commission. (R. pp. 53-55). Based upon those credibility findings, the Claimant's testimony is insufficient to support a finding of compensability of any right hand injury.

At the hearing, the Claimant complained that her right hand was hurting severely, and that her right hand was so bad that she couldn't use a stapler, she couldn't write, she couldn't type, and she couldn't use a computer mouse. She indicated that she was having severe cramping in the right hand and had to use a compression glove on the hand at night. She indicated that her right hand is so bad that she has to have her husband cut up all food for cooking because she cannot cut anything with her right hand. (R. pp. 75-80). Of course, none of these complaints are supported by any of the medical documentation in the claim. As indicated above, the law on this case is that these

complaints regarding her right hand complaints are not credible or reliable. The lack of credible and reliable testimony by the claimant constitutes substantial evidence to support the factual determination of the Commission.

B. The medical evidence does not support a finding that Claimant sustained a legitimate, compensable injury to her right hand or that such injury was causally related to an accident at work.

The case law places the burden on a Claimant to prove the injury is compensable. Pilgrim v. Eaton, 391 S.C. 38, 703 S.E.2d 241 (S.C. App. 2010). The Claimant bears the burden of proving a compensable accident that is causally related to a work accident by expert medical testimony. Tiller v. National Health Care Center, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999). The medical evidence does not support a compensable injury to the right hand which is causally related to her accident at work. On February 22, 2013, the report from Doctors Care indicates that the Claimant underwent diagnostic testing to include x-rays of her right elbow and hand which were “unremarkable.” (R. pp. 296-297). The Claimant was diagnosed with a right arm and hand strain based upon her subjective complaints, but the doctor indicated that there were signs of questionable malingering. (R. pp. 298-299). A note from the doctor at Doctors Care indicated that the Claimant was attempting to determine her own treatment plan and the doctor was concerned that Claimant had varying symptoms with every visit and had symptoms that made no medical sense. (R. p. 265).

At the Claimant’s first visit to the orthopedist, Dr. James Merritt, she did not even complain about a right hand injury, but instead complained about various other injuries. (R. p. 258). Dr. Merritt also noted serious signs of malingering, lack of motivation, and symptom magnification. (R. p. 248). Dr. Merritt treated the Claimant for her right shoulder and right knee, and evaluated her for alleged problems involving her neck, back, hips, and wrist, but he indicated repeatedly that he could find no reason from an orthopedic standpoint why she was having the problems that she

was describing. (R. pp. 248, 240). Dr. Merritt also indicated that the EMG studies revealed mild to moderate carpal tunnel syndrome in both hands but that her symptoms were inconsistent with carpal tunnel syndrome. He further stated that he was not sure that her right arm carpal tunnel syndrome was related to her fall and that he did not believe that this would explain all the symptoms she was having. (R. p. 240). Dr. Merritt was also deposed, but did not offer any testimony as to whether the Claimant had a legitimate right hand injury or any testimony about causation of any right hand injury.

Claimant was seen for an independent medical evaluation by Dr. Alexander Pappas on July 12, 2013, and only complained about problems with her right knee, right hip, right leg, low back, and right shoulder. (R. pp. 244-245).

Dr. Alan Tamadon, a pain management doctor, performed an EMG study on August 1, 2013, which revealed moderate carpal tunnel syndrome in both hands. He stated that he was not sure how this could be related to her fall and that her only diagnosis was myofascial pain which was completely subjective. (R. pp. 262-263). Dr. Kimberly Purgavie, another pain management doctor, noted that the Claimant's complaints of pain in her upper and lower extremities seemed to be migratory and she indicated that she did not know why the Claimant was having the complaints about which she was complaining. (R. pp. 336, 338-339).

The Claimant submitted a medical report from Dr. Stuart Haskin dated April 2, 2014. The Claimant went to Dr. Haskin on her own and was seen for complaints of both hands hurting. The report notes that the Claimant complained of severe diffuse pain throughout both upper extremities. Dr. Haskin noted exaggerated and inappropriate pain behaviors and actions by Claimant during the evaluation. (R. pp. 367-368). An EMG report was conducted on April 14, 2014, and it revealed evidence of moderate right and mild left carpal tunnel syndrome. (R. p. 370).

However, Dr. Haskin noted that the Claimant had absolutely no symptoms compatible with carpal tunnel syndrome and also noted that given her exaggerated pain response and posturing, he was doubtful that any treatment would affect a good outcome for the patient. (R. p. 368). Dr. Haskin noted that Claimant's testing revealed left carpal tunnel syndrome and that Claimant was not even alleging that she injured her left wrist in the fall at work and that this problem could not be related to her fall at work. (R. p. 368). Dr. Haskin did not establish legitimacy of any right hand injury or causation of a right hand injury. This opinion is very consistent with the opinion of Dr. Merritt stated above.

Physical therapy notes indicate that Claimant's location of pain was sporadic and changing (R. p. 317), that her complaints were vague and she was unable to pinpoint areas of pain (R. p. 315), that she had non-organic complaints and was noncompliant (R. pp. 298, 302, 305, 307), and that there was questionable malingering. (R. p. 307). Physical therapy notes also indicated that the Claimant refused to perform almost all physical therapy that was introduced for reasons that did not match her injury or complaints. (R. p. 307). The physical therapist also noted that the Claimant would complain about swelling in the right hand but that no swelling could be appreciated by the medical professionals. (R. p. 301). The Claimant also underwent a functional capacity evaluation that showed submaximal effort and a variety of inconsistencies. (R. pp. 274-275).

Despite being seen and evaluated by four different orthopedic doctors and several other medical providers, the Claimant presented no medical evidence, stated to a most likely or most probable standard within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, which states that the Claimant has a legitimate right hand injury or that such injury is causally related to an accident at work. The report from Dr. Haskin does not establish an injury or causation, and the reports from Dr. Merritt

and Dr. Tamadon both indicate that the bilateral wrist problems are not related to work and are not even responsible for her complaints. (R. pp. 240, 262-263). All doctors state that the Claimant has no symptoms compatible with carpal tunnel syndrome in the right wrist, and this appears to be an incidental finding. There is no doctor who identifies any other legitimate injury with the Claimant's right hand or establishes causation of any right hand injury to the accident at work. The Claimant failed to present the necessary medical evidence to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she had a legitimate injury to her right hand which was causally related to an accident at work. In fact, the substantial medical evidence in the record supports that the Claimant's various complaints, including those of her right hand, are inconsistent, unreliable, and not credible.

The combination of the Claimant's failure to present sufficient medical evidence to prove that she has a legitimate right hand injury which is causally related to an accident at work, the Claimant's lack of credible or reliable testimony, and the overwhelming sentiment in all of the submitted medical records that the Claimant's complaints, symptoms, and problems were either exaggerated, fabricated, or not reliable, constitutes substantial, if not overwhelming, evidence to support the Commission's denial of the right hand injury. There is an abundance of medical evidence which would constitute substantial evidence to support the factual findings of the Commission denying the alleged right hand injury.

C. Even if the right hand was involved in the initial fall, that does not satisfy the burden of proving a legitimate injury that is causally related to the work accident.

In her brief, the Claimant argues that because her right hand was involved in the fall at work, that she has satisfied her burden of proving that there was a right hand injury that was causally related to the work accident. This is both factually and legally incorrect. Our courts have frequently stated that the burden of proof is on the Claimant to prove facts which will bring the

injury under the coverage of the Workers' Compensation Act. See, e.g., Clade v. Champion Labs., 330 S.C. 8, 496 S.E.2d 856 (1998); Bartley v. Allendale County Sch. Dist., 381 S.C. 262, 672 S.E.2d 809 (Ct.App.2009). As indicated above, and based upon the long-standing case law and statutory authority, the Claimant bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained a compensable injury to her right hand that is causally related to her accident at work. The Claimant must also submit expert medical evidence proving both the injury and the causal connection. As indicated above, the Claimant has failed to meet her burden of proof on all counts.

D. The right hand injury has been a denied body part during the entirety of this claim.

The Claimant has also argued that the right hand was an admitted body part at the beginning of the claim and therefore must be found compensable. Again, this argument is both factually and legally incorrect. The Form 12A dated February 22, 2013, lists the type of injury as a sprain and list the body part affected as "ring finger(s)." The Form 12A does not list the right hand or right wrist as a body part. (R. p. 171). A Form 21 was filed by Defendants on October 22, 2013, seeking to resolve the claim based upon the fact that the Claimant had been released at maximum medical improvement with regard to the right shoulder and right knee, the only two admitted body parts. (R. p. 173). A Form 50 was filed by Claimant on November 8, 2013, and asserted as injured body parts the neck, right shoulder, right upper extremity, right hand, low back, right knee, and right foot/ankle. (R. p. 176). A Form 51 was timely filed by Defendants on November 13, 2013, and admitted only the right knee injury as compensable. (R. p. 177). In their Form 58 Pre-hearing Brief before the first hearing, the Defendants admitted injuries to the right shoulder and right knee. (R. p. 178). The Defendants maintained that position at the first hearing and at the second hearing on this claim. (R. P. 179). Any assertion that the Defendants admitted a right hand injury is simply

incorrect and disingenuous.

Claimant's counsel, in his statement on the record before Commissioner Campbell, admitted that the right shoulder and right knee were the only two accepted body parts and that the right hand, low back, neck, and right foot/ankle were all denied. (R. p. 63, lines 2-7). In fact, this argument that the Defendants previously accepted the right hand injury and that they should be barred by estoppel from asserting a denial was raised for the first time in the Form 30 appeal dated October 23, 2015. (R. p. 175). As indicated above, the Defendants have denied the compensability of the right hand injury from the beginning of the claim and the Claimant's estoppel argument is without merit.

E. Providing an evaluation of a body part does not constitute an admission of compensability of that body part.

The Claimant has also argued that because the Defendants provided medical treatment of the right hand, that this is somehow an admission that the injury is compensable and causally related. There is no legal basis for any such argument. The Claimant had an accident at work, and the Defendants provided medical treatment for the compensable body parts, the right shoulder and right knee. During the course of this claim, the Claimant alleged a multitude of other injuries. At various times, the Defendants provided diagnostic testing and evaluations of these other alleged injuries in order to determine if they were legitimate and causally related or if they would be denied and defended. There is absolutely no legal basis in either the statute or the case law which would indicate that providing diagnostic testing or evaluations of a disputed body part is somehow an admission by the Defendants that the body part is compensable under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act.

II. THE REMAINING ISSUES/GROUNDS FOR APPEAL RAISED BY APPELLANT IN HER BRIEF ARE NOT PROPERLY ON APPEAL AND CANNOT BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT.